IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SHAWN GLOVER JR.)	Sep 13 2021 03:45 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellant,)	CASE NO.: 82700
VS.)	
THE STATE OF NEVADA)	
Respondent.)	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ALEXANDER CHEN, ESQ. LUCAS J. GAFFNEY. ESQ Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar No. 12373 Nevada Bar No. 10539 Gaffney Law Clark County District Attorney's Office 1050 Indigo Drive 200 Lewis Avenue Suite 120 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 (702) 671-2500 (702) 742-2055 Attorney for Respondent lucas@gaffneylawlv.com State of Nevada Attorney for Appellant Shawn Glover Jr.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order filed on February 25, 2021, in which the district court denied the Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (post-conviction).

IV. ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (hereinafter, "NRAP") 17(b)(1) and (3), this case is presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals.

V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES</u>

- A. Whether The District Court Erred By Not Finding Trial
 Counsel Provided Ineffective Assistance To Glover By
 Failing To Object To Testimonial Hearsay Introduced
 In Violation Of Crawford V. Washington. And Whether
 The District Court Further Erred By Failing To Grant
 Glover An Evidentiary Hearing Regarding This Claim.
- B. Whether The District Court Erred By Failing To Find
 Trial Counsel Provided Ineffective Assistance To
 Glover By Possessing A Conflict Of Interest Resulting

From The Public Defender's Office Previously
Representing Fleming In A Criminal Case. And
Whether The District Court Further Erred By Failing To
Grant An Evidentiary Hearing Regarding This Claim.

VI. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 4, 2016, the State of Nevada (State) filed its Indictment in case number C-16-312448-1, charging the Appellant, Shawn Glover Jr. (Glover), with the crimes of: Count 1 - Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon; Count 2 - Assault with a Deadly Weapon; Count 3 - Ownership or Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person; and Count 4 - Discharge of Firearm.

On February 8, 2016, the district court arraigned Glover on the Indictment.

Glover pleaded "Not Guilty" and waived his right to a trial within sixty (60) days.¹

On March 4, 2016, Jess Marchese, Esq. (Marchese) filed a Substitution of Counsel indicating he would represent Glover instead of the Clark County Public Defender. On April 7, 2016, Marchese filed a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel. The

3

¹ On January 6, 2016, the North Las Vegas Justice Court appointed the Public Defender to represent Glover in case number 16CRN000001. On February 9, 2016, the State dismissed the North Las Vegas Justice Court case due to the filing of the Indictment.

motion indicated Marchese should be allowed to withdraw as Glover's attorney because Glover failed to fulfill his contractual obligations. On April 18, 2016, the district court granted the motion. On April 25, 2016, the Public Defender reconfirmed as Glover's counsel.

On May 15, 2017, Glover filed his Motion to Compel Production of Discovery & Brady Material. On May 26, 2017, the State filed its Opposition. On July 18, 2017, the district court granted the motion in part and denied the motion in part.

On November 9, 2017, the State filed its Notice of Witnesses and/or Expert Witnesses.

On May 4, 2018, Glover filed his Motion to Strike Expert Witnesses. Specifically, the motion sought to prevent Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Detectives Ben Owens and Sayoko Wilson-Fay from testifying as expert witnesses. That same day, Glover filed his Motion to Bifurcate Count 3 (Ownership or Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person).

On June 28, 2018, the district court granted Glover's motion to bifurcate Count 3 as unopposed. The district court reserved its ruling on Glover's Motion to Strike Expert Witness pending an evidentiary hearing. That same day, Glover advised the district court the parties agreed to waive the penalty phase.

On July 20, 2018, the State filed its State's Notice of Witnesses [NRS 174.234(1)(a)].

A five-day trial, beginning on July 30, and concluding on August 3, 2018, was conducted in District Court, Department IX, before the Honorable Jennifer Togliatti. On July 31, 2018, the State filed its Amended Indictment charging Glover with the crimes of: Count 1 - Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon; Count 2 - Assault with a Deadly Weapon; Count 3 - Discharge of Firearm from or within a Structure or Vehicle; and Count 4 - Ownership or Possession of a Firearm by a Prohibited Person.

After the presentation of evidence, and deliberation, the jury returned a verdict of: Count I - Guilty of First-Degree Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon; Count; Count 2 - Guilty of Assault with use of a Deadly Weapon; and Count 3 - Guilty of Discharge of Firearm from or within a Structure or Vehicle. The State dismissed Count 4 after receiving the verdict.

On October 10, 2018, the district court sentenced Glover to the following: Count 1 - Life without the possibility of Parole plus a consecutive term of 180 months with a minimum parole eligibility of 48 months for the use of a deadly weapon; Count 2 - a maximum of 72 months with a minimum parole eligibility of 28 months, concurrent with Count 1; and Count 3 - a maximum of 180 months with a minimum parole eligibility of 60 months, concurrent with Counts 1 and 2. (Count 4 was dismissed. The court imposed 1,011 days credit for time served.

On November 8, 2018, Glover filed a Notice of Appeal in Nevada Supreme Court Case 77425. On April 17, 2019, Glover filed his Appellant's Opening Brief, which raised the following issues:

- 1. There was insufficient evidence presented at trial to overcome the presumption of innocence and thereby to sustain the convictions against Shawn Glover.
- 2. Mr. Glover was denied his constitutionally guaranteed right to a fair trial when the State attempted to shift the burden of proof to him.
- 3. Glover was denied his constitutionally guaranteed right to a fair trial when the court allowed the state to solicit from Miranda Sutton and Akira Veasley Improper Character Evidence.

On May 16, 2019, the State filed its Respondent's Answering Brief. Glover did not file a Reply Brief. On November 23, 2019, this Court filed its Order of Affirmance. On November 18, 2019, this Court filed its Remittitur.

On September 14, 2020, Glover filed his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (post-conviction) in case number A-20-821176-W. On September 17, 2020, the Clerk of the Court filed a Notice of Nonconforming Document. On November 13, 2020, the State filed its Response to Glover's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus

(post-conviction). On January 4, 2021, Glover filed his Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (post-conviction) (Petition).

On January 8, 2021, the district court heard oral arguments on the post-conviction pleadings. On February 5, 2021, the district court filed a Minute Order denying Glover's Petition. On February 25, 2021, the district court filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order. On March 1, 2021, the district court filed its Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order. On March 26, 2021, Glover filed his Notice of Appeal in the instant case.

VII. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

In December of 2015, about two weeks before the death of the victim, Patrick Fleming (Fleming), his wife Miranda Sutton (Sutton), their 21-year-old daughter Akira Veasley (Veasley), and 12-year-old twins, moved into a townhouse with their goddaughter Angela. Appellant's Appendix (AA), Volumes II & III (II & III), bates numbers 500-503. Shortly after that, around Christmas Eve, Shawn Glover (Glover) also moved into the townhouse. AA III 503-504. Glover has a daughter in common with Angela. AA III 504. On January 1, 2016, five adults, along with several children were living in Angela's townhouse on 4032 Smokey Fog Avenue, in North Las Vegas. AA II & III 500, 504-505.

On the morning of January 1, 2016, after he returned from taking Angela to work, Fleming got into an argument with his stepdaughter Veasley over her behavior the night before. AA III 505-506. The night before, Fleming had a friend follow and videotape Veasley while she drove Fleming's vehicle and picked up a boy for a date. AA III 532. The argument took place downstairs in the garage and Sutton was present. AA III 505-506. According to Sutton's testimony, "it was an argument. It was a loud argument. It was a lot of shouting and that's primarily why we went to the garage. There was a lot of handclapping, you know, when you talk with your hands. But other than that... it was a typical argument that we were having." AA III 506. Sutton testified that she and Veasley were screaming during the argument. AA III 532-533.

At some point during the argument, according to Sutton, Glover came downstairs and told Sutton that Angela was on the phone and wanted to speak to her. AA III 507. After Sutton told Angela that everything was okay, Glover went back upstairs. AA III 507. Later, as the argument in the garage was winding down, Glover returned downstairs to the garage. AA III 507. Sutton testified that Glover asked her to come upstairs with him, which she did. AA III 508. Sutton testified that Glover asked her if she wanted him to handle the situation. AA III 508-509. Sutton told Glover that everything was fine and not to worry. AA III 508-509.

Sutton testified that shortly after Fleming and Veasley had come back upstairs Fleming confronted Glover about wanting to talk to his wife, Sutton. AA III 510. Glover indicated he was concerned because of the heated argument that occurred in the garage. AA III 510. According to Sutton, when Fleming attempted to touch Glover on his shoulder, Glover pulled away "like man, get off me, you're too close to me." AA III 510. Fleming then looked at Glover and said "do we have a problem, do we need to talk?" AA III 510. Fleming suggested he and Glover go downstairs to talk. AA III 510.

Sutton told Fleming that he did not need to talk to Glover, but Fleming pushed Sutton to the side and walked downstairs. AA III 510. Sutton testified that Mr. Glover followed Fleming. AA III 511. Sutton then went towards Angela's bedroom when she heard three gunshots. AA III 511. Sutton and Veasley ran to the landing at the top of the stairs and saw Fleming lying on the floor and Glover standing over him holding a gun. AA III 512. Sutton testified that Glover pointed the gun at her and said something to the effect of "don't tell on me." AA III 512, 520-521. Sutton later testified that Glover told her "if you and your kids want to live, you'll shut the fuck up." AA III 522. In response, Sutton raised her hands and said "Okay." AA III 512. At that point, Glover left and Veasley called 911. AA III 513.

Sutton testified that she moved Fleming's body in an attempt to perform cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR). AA III 513-514. Sutton further testified that at some point during the argument, Glover took the five children into a bedroom to play, he told them to stay in the bedroom and closed the door. AA III 515.

On cross examination, Sutton testified that she told the 911 operator Fleming was shot after he answered the front door, and that she did not know who shot Fleming. AA III 525-526. Sutton also testified that she told the 911 operator that she knew Fleming had talked to someone on the phone that was supposed to come over to the house, but she did not see anything. AA III 526. After the police arrived, Sutton gave a statement to detectives where she indicated that Fleming was selling marijuana and was looking to "re-up." AA III 528-529. As such, Sutton left the police with the initial impression that a potential customer had shot Fleming during a drug deal.

Veasley testified to substantially the same version of events with a few exceptions. Veasley testified that when Glover and Fleming were arguing at the top of the stairs, Glover confronted Patrick for trying to physically harm Veasley and Sutton. AA III 552-553. Glover also indicated to Veasley that he heard her and Sutton crying. AA III 552. Veasley testified that Fleming grabbed Glover by his elbows but Glover pulled away. AA III 95. One of them suggested going downstairs to talk, and shortly after they went downstairs Veasley heard three gunshots. AA III

553. After she and Sutton ran over to the stairs she believed Glover warned them "about not snitching on him." AA III 555.

Veasley further testified that immediately following the shooting, she told the detectives that there was a man named Hatch in the house who was a customer of Fleming's. AA III 561. And that Fleming would average two to three customers a day selling marijuana. AA III 561. Veasley told the detectives that Hatch waited upstairs during the argument, but at some point came down stairs to speak to Sutton. AA III 562. Fleming became upset with Hatch for speaking to Sutton and told Hatch to mind his own business. AA III 562. Veasley testified that she told the detectives she had never seen Hatch before, and as far as she knew Sutton did not know Hatch. AA III 562. Veasley also testified that she told the detectives that she did know if Hatch went by any other names or had any tattoos. AA III 563. Veasley then testified that the next day she told the detectives that Hatch is Glover, and she lied because she was afraid of him. AA III 564. Veasley also testified that Fleming owned a Dodge Durango which he let other people drive. AA III 563. But Veasley noticed after the shooting that the keys to the Durango, which Fleming normally left on the kitchen counter were gone, and the Durango was missing. AA III 563, 566.

Dr. Jennifer Corneal (Dr. Corneal) testified that Dr. Timothy Dutra (Dr. Dutra) performed the autopsy of Fleming. AA III 579. Dr. Corneal had merely

reviewed the autopsy report and investigative files, including photographs, as it related to the autopsy performed on Fleming on January 2, 2016. AA III 579.

Dr. Corneal testified that Fleming was shot in the back of his head on the left side. AA III 581. The entrance wound was located in the back of Fleming's head. AA III 581-582. The trajectory of the projectile was left to right, and downward. AA III 584. The projectile passed through Fleming's brain, which transected his brain stem and immediately incapacitated him. AA III 585. Dr. Corneal testified that she did not observe any soot or stippling that would indicate the gun was fired at close range. AA III 586. She further testified she could not determine the range at which the gun was fired possibly due to Fleming's thick hair, which may have absorbed the soot—the gray material deposited around the wound edges—and/or the stippling—the unburnt gun powder that strikes the skin during a shooting at close range. AA III 586.

Patrick was also shot in his inner, right upper arm, and in the right groin area. AA III 587-588. The trajectory of the projectile in the groin area was right to left, front to back and downward. AA III 589. Dr. Corneal testified that the gunshot wound to the head was the cause of Patrick's death, and the manner of death was homicide. AA III 589.

///

///

VIII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred by not finding trial counsel provided ineffective assistance to Glover by failing to object to testimonial hearsay presented during his trial, and by failing to grant an evidentiary hearing on this claim. Prior to trial, Dr. Dutra—a medical doctor employed by the Clark County Coroner Medical Examiner—performed an autopsy on the victim. Dr. Dutra produced an autopsy report that contained his findings and conclusions regarding the cause and manner of death. At trial, the State called Dr. Suiter rather than Dr. Dutra to present information contained in the autopsy report, as well as information contained in an investigative file presumably produced by the Clark County Coroner's Office. Glover's state and federal constitutional rights to due process, confrontation and cross-examination were violated when trial counsel failed to object to the introduction of testimonial hearsay evidence in the form of Dr. Suiter presenting Dr. Dutra's findings and conclusions.

The district court also erred by not finding trial counsel provided ineffective assistance to Glover by failing to disclose a conflict of interest. The district court also erred by failing to grant an evidentiary hearing on this claim. Trial counsel—a deputy public defender—possessed a conflict of interest because the Public Defender's Office previously represented the victim in two criminal cases. The

general nature of one criminal case—battery domestic violence—supported Glover's assertion the Public Defender's Office likely had privileged information regarding the victim's violent conduct that Glover could have used to present a theory of self-defense at trial. However, the deputy public defender never disclosed its representation of the victim to allow the district court to determine the extent of the conflict.

IX. ARGUMENT

LEGAL AUTHORITY RELEVANT TO ALL CLAIMS

A conviction cannot stand when defense counsel fails to provide effective assistance during a critical stage of criminal proceedings. U.S. Const. Amends. V, VI, & XIV; Nevada Constitution Art. I. Counsel is ineffective, thereby depriving a defendant of his rights, when (1) it is deficient, such that counsel made errors so serious it ceased to function as the "counsel" guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment, and (2) when that deficiency prejudicial to the defendant, such that the result of the proceeding is rendered unreliable. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984). The question of whether a defendant has received ineffective assistance is a mixed question of law and fact and is subject to independent review. State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136-38, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (Nev. 1993).

Performance of counsel will be judged against the objective standard for reasonableness, and is deficient when it falls below that standard. State v. Powell, 122 Nev. 751, 759, 138 P.3d 453, 458 (Nev. 2006); Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P.3d 25 (Nev. 2004). Where counsel might claim that an action was a strategic one, the reviewing court must satisfy itself that the decisions were, indeed, reasonable. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691.

Prejudice to the defendant occurs where there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different."

Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (Nev. 1996). A "reasonable probability" is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

Id.

With respect to post-conviction habeas corpus petitions, all factual allegations in support of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim must only be proven by a preponderance of the evidence. <u>Powell</u>, 122 Nev. at 759.

///

///

///

///

///

///

A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT FINDING TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE TO GLOVER FAILING TO **OBJECT** TO **TESTIMONIAL HEARSAY** INTRODUCED VIOLATION **CRAWFORD** IN **OF** WASHINGTON. THE DISTRICT COURT FURTHER ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT GLOVER AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING REGARDING THIS CLAIM.

In its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (Findings), the district court found trial counsel did not provide ineffective assistance by failing to object to the testimony of Dr. Corneal. AA IV 952-953. Specifically, the district court found that because Dr. Corneal testified regarding her own opinion(s) as to the cause and manner of death and did not refer to the opinions and conclusions of Dr. Dutra, Dr. Corneal's testimony did not constitute testimonial hearsay. AA IV 952-953. The district court erred in reaching this conclusion.

Glover's state and federal constitutional rights to due process, confrontation and cross-examination were violated when trial counsel failed to object to the introduction of testimonial hearsay evidence in the form of Dr. Dutra's autopsy report and related findings. U.S. Const. amend. V, VI, XIV; Nevada Const. Art. I, Sec. 3, 6 and 8; Art. IV, Sec. 21.

This issue was considered by the United States Supreme Court. In Commonwealth v. Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S.Ct. 2527 (2009), the Supreme Court found that admission of a laboratory analysts' affidavits violated the defendant's right of confrontation:

In short, under our decision in Crawford the analysts' affidavits were testimonial statements, and the analysts were "witnesses" for purposes of the Sixth Amendment. Absent a showing that the analysts were unavailable to testify at trial and that petitioner had a prior opportunity to cross-examine them, petitioner was entitled to "be confronted with" the analysts at trial.

<u>Id.</u> at 2532 (alteration in original) (quoting <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36, 53, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 1365-1366 (2004).

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