IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SHAWN GLOVER, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Oct 06 2021 08:17 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 82700

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

**Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

LUCAS J. GAFFNEY, ESQ.
Nevada Bar #012373
Gaffney Law
1050 Indigo Drive, Suite 120
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
(702) 742-2055

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
Regional Justice Center
200 Lewis Avenue
Post Office Box 552212
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
State of Nevada

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a response to an appeal from a Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order filed on February 25, 2021, in which the district court denied Glover’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (post-conviction). Glover’s Judgment of

Conviction was filed on October 15, 2018. Glover previously appealed but his appeal was denied. On November 18, 2019, this Court filed its Remittitur and on November 23, 2019, this Court filed its Order of Affirmance. On September 14, 2020, Glover filed his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The State filed its response on November 13, 2020. On January 4, 2021, Glover filed an Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On January 8, 2021, the district court held a hearing.

After hearing argument on Glover's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on January 8, 2021, the district court denied the petition on February 25, 2021 when the court filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order. Glover filed a Notice of Appeal on March 26, 2021. Glover filed his Opening Brief on September 13, 2021. The State responds herein.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it found Glover received effective assistance of counsel. First, Glover's trial counsel was not deficient for failing to object to Coroner Medical Examiner Doctor Jennifer Corneal ("Dr. Corneal")'s testimony. Dr. Corneal testified to her independent opinion as an expert witness after reviewing the laboratory results. Her testimony was not objectionable and was not a violation of Glover's constitutional right under the Confrontation Clause. Second, Glover's trial counsel was not ineffective due to a conflict of interest. Glover fails to demonstrate an actual conflict existed, therefore

his argument fails on the merits. As such, the district court did not err in denying Glover's requests for evidentiary hearings on both claims.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT FOUND GLOVER RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Glover complains that the district court erred when it denied his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact that is subject to independent review. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). However, a district court's factual findings will be given deference by this court on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong. Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 647, 878 P.2d 272, 278 (1994).

The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Petition. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.” The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that “the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S.Ct. at 2063–64. See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. 466 U.S. at 687–88, 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part test). “[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.Ct. at 2069.

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004). “Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is ‘[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.’” Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments. See Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the “immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop.” Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002).

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is “not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance.” Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should “second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success.” Id. To be effective, the constitution “does not require that counsel do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless charade.” United States v. Cronin, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

“There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the

same way.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 689. “Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable.” Dawson v. State, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the court must “judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066.

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2064–65, 2068).

The Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a habeas corpus Petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence.” Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). “Bare” and “naked” allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Id. “A claim is ‘belied’ when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it existed at the time the claim was made.” Mann v. State,

118 Nev. 351, 354, 46 P.3d 1228, 1230 (2002). NRS 34.735(6) states in relevant part,

In Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB"), Glover alleges that trial counsel was ineffective in two (2) ways: first, trial counsel failed to object to testimonial hearsay; second, trial counsel had a conflict of interest that rendered counsel ineffective. See AOB at 16, 26. The district court did not abuse its discretion by denying both claims because each respective argument lacks merit.

A. The District Court Correctly Determined Glover's Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective by Failing to Object to Dr. Corneal's Testimony

Glover first claims that the district court erred by ruling his trial counsel was effective despite failing to object to Dr. Corneal's testimony, even though she reviewed an autopsy report and accompanying photographs prepared by one Dr. Dutra (retired) before testifying. AOB at 16-25. Specifically, Glover relies on Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S.Ct. 2527 (2009) (erroneously cited in both Glover's petition and appeal as "Commonwealth v. Melendez-Diaz"), and Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004), to argue Dr. Corneal's testimony amounted to "testimonial hearsay evidence" that violated the Confrontation Clause. See AOB at 16-25. Glover's argument is based on a misapplication of these cases and overlooks relevant Nevada case law that contradicts his position.

The Nevada Supreme Court has explained that “the Confrontation Clause bars the use of a testimonial statement made by a witness who is unavailable for trial unless the defendant had an opportunity to previously cross-examine the witness regarding the witness’s statement.” Medina v. State, 122 Nev. 346, 353, 143 P.3d 471, 476 (2006) (citing Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68). While this constitutional restriction applies to forensic laboratory results (see, Melendez-Diaz, 557 U.S. at 329), the Nevada Supreme Court has determined that a surrogate may provide her “independent opinion as an expert witness” regarding the laboratory results. Vega v. State, 126 Nev. 332, 340, 236 P.3d 632, 638 (2010). Accord, State v. Navarrette, 294 P.3d 435, 443 (N.M. 2013) (“[A]n expert witness may express an independent opinion regarding his or her interpretation of raw data without offending the Confrontation Clause.”). The admissibility of the surrogate’s testimony, relying on a third party’s laboratory report, was explained by the U.S. Supreme Court:

When an expert testifies for the prosecution in a criminal case, the defendant has the opportunity to cross-examine the expert about any statements that are offered for their truth. Out-of-court statements that are related by the expert solely for the purpose of explaining the assumptions on which that opinion rests are not offered for their truth and thus fall outside the scope of the Confrontation Clause. Williams v. Illinois, 567 U.S. 50, 58, 132 S.Ct. 2221, 2228 (2012) (emphasis added).

Glover claims that his trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to Dr. Corneal's testimony because it was testimonial hearsay in violation of Crawford. AOB at 16-25. Below, Glover argued his constitutional rights were violated because Dr. Corneal testified as to cause and manner of death, even though Dr. Corneal was not the pathologist who conducted the autopsy. IV AA 903; III AA 576-591 (Citation to trial transcript within Appellant's Appendix). Glover claims Dr. Corneal presented Dr. Dutra's findings. Id. However, the district court's ruling is supported by substantial evidence because Dr. Corneal's testimony did not violate Glover's constitutional rights. IV AA 952; III AA 576-591. The district court found Dr. Corneal testified as an expert who formed her own independent opinion based on the laboratory results. Id. Dr. Corneal testified as to her qualifications as an expert in autopsies and pathology and she testified she had reviewed the autopsy report and associated photographs of Fleming. IV AA 952; III AA 579. The district court concluded Dr. Corneal made her own opinions as to cause and manner of death and "[n]othing contained in Dr. Corneal's testimony referred to the opinions and conclusions of Dr. Dutra." IV AA 952; III AA 576-591.

Therefore, contrary to Glover's representation that the State "present[ed] the findings of an expert witness that did not testify at trial," the district court correctly found the State introduced Dr. Corneal as an expert who then testified to her own opinions as to the cause and manner of death. See AOB at 19, IV AA 952-953; III

576-591. Because Glover had the opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Corneal on her findings and conclusions, pursuant to Williams, 567 U.S. at 58, 132 S.Ct. at 2228, the district court correctly concluded Dr. Corneal's testimony falls outside the scope of the Confrontation Clause. See IV AA 951-952; II AA 589-591.

Glover relies extensively on Melendez-Diaz and Crawford to support his assertion that Dr. Corneal's testimony was improper. AOB at 16-20. However, those cases are easily distinguishable from Glover's case. In Crawford, the prosecution played a witness's (the defendant's wife's) tape-recorded statement to the police describing a stabbing, though the witness did not testify at trial due to marital privilege. 541 U.S. at 40, 124 S.Ct. at 1357-58. The State conceded that the statement amounted to hearsay but sought to admit the statement under a hearsay exception. Id. In Melendez-Diaz, the State sought to introduce affidavits of laboratory analysts for the truth of the results of certain drug tests, rather than having the analysts testify in person. 567 U.S. at 308-09, 129 S.Ct. at 2530-31. In both cases, the U.S. Supreme Court determined that the evidence was testimonial hearsay and was therefore subject to Confrontation Clause restrictions. See, Crawford, 541 U.S. at 52-53, 124 S.Ct. at 1364-65; see also, Melendez-Diaz, 567 U.S. at 310-11, 129 S.Ct. at 2532. On the contrary, pursuant to Vega, Dr. Corneal's testimony did not include testimonial hearsay; instead, it was Dr. Corneal's independent opinion as an expert

witness. 126 Nev. at 340, 236 P.3d at 638; see also, Williams, 567 U.S. at 58, 132 S.Ct. at 2228 (such testimony does not implicate the Confrontation Clause).

The Nevada and U.S. Supreme Court rulings that exclude testimony such as Dr. Corneal's rendered Glover's proposed objections futile. See AOB at 19 (suggesting counsel should have objected to Dr. Corneal's testimony). Glover's claim fails on the merits as counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make futile objections. Ennis, 122 Nev. at 706, 137 P.3d at 1103.

Therefore, because the testimony challenged by Glover is not testimonial hearsay, and falls outside the scope of the Confrontation Clause, the district court's judgment should be affirmed.

B. The District Court Correctly Determined Glover's Trial Counsel Did Not Possess A Conflict of Interest Through Their Prior Representation of the Victim

Glover's second claim alleges that trial counsel was ineffective due to a conflict of interest. AOB at 26-31. Glover fails to demonstrate an actual conflict existed. Therefore, the district court's ruling should be affirmed.

The U.S. Supreme Court explained in Mickens v. Taylor 535 U.S. 162, 122 S.Ct. 1237 (2002) when a conflict of interest may violate a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. The Mickens Court specifically rejected the notion that a defendant "need only show that his lawyer was subject to a conflict of interest." Id. at 170-71, 122 S.Ct. at 1243. Instead, that court determined

that “an actual conflict of interest” was necessary, meaning “precisely a conflict that affected counsel’s performance—as opposed to a mere theoretical division of loyalties.” *Id.* at 171, 122 S.Ct. at 1243 (*citing* Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 349-50, 100 S.Ct. 1708 (1980)) (emphasis in original).

The district court found that Glover failed to support his claim of a conflict of interest. IV AA at 953. The district court’s ruling is supported by substantial evidence. *See* Riley, 110 Nev. at 647, 878 P.2d at 278. Glover cites to two (2) former cases in which trial counsel’s office represented the victim (“Fleming”), and Glover admits “[t]he precise scope of Fleming’s former representation is unknown. It also remains unknown whether Fleming disclosed information to the Public Defender’s Office...” AOB at 30. This claim is speculative and baseless. The district court correctly denied Glover’s petition because below Glover made a claim for relief without any evidence to support it. Glover stated below that it is “unknown...whether any information disclosed to the Public Defender’s Office would be relevant to the issues presented.” IV AA at 856. The district court could not find for Glover because Glover did not provide any evidence to support either an actual conflict or that Fleming disclosed any relevant information to the Public Defender’s office that supported a conflict of interest. Now, Glover presently asks this Court to find the district court erred in denying a claim that was speculative and

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